IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

CARLA UTZ, INDIVIDUALLY AND ON BEHALF OF ALL WRONGFUL DEATH BENEFICIARIES AND THE ESTATE OF PRESTON JIMMY UTZ, DECEASED

APPELLANT

VS.

CAUSE NO. 2008-CA-00977

RUNNING & ROLLING TRUCKING, INC. AND ANTHONY Q. HUNTER

APPELLEES

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SECOND JUDICIAL DISTRICT OF BOLIVAR COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Oral argument is not requested

OF COUNSEL:

J. ASHLEY OGDEN, ESQ. (MSB of OGDEN & ASSOCIATES, PLLC 500 East Capitol Street, Suite 3 Jackson, Mississippi 39201 Telephone: (601) 969-0999 Facsimile: (601) 969-0089 ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

I. EVIDENTIARY AND PROCEDURAL ERRORS

- 1. Trial court erred in admitting testimony alleging Utz was using, making and/or selling methamphetamine before the wreck
- 2. Trial court erred when allowing defendants to claim Utz had methamphetamine in his blood at the time of the wreck
- 3. Trial court erred in admitting testimony regarding alleged drugs being found in Utz's pants a month after the wreck
- 4. Trial court erred allowing testimony of lay witnesses identifying unknown substance to be alleged Methamphetamine
- 5. Trial court erred in allowing toxicologist Weaver to testify that Utz's alleged lack of sleep "could have" lead to fatigue and delayed perception
- 6. Trial court erred in not admitting defendant's prior FMCSR violations
- 7. Trial court erred in excluding evidence of Hunter's driving record.
- 8. Trial court erred in limiting the plaintiff's expert testimony regarding taillight visibility
- 9. Trial court erred in not admitting evidence regarding the trailer being "out of service" and its causation effect on the wreck
- 10. Trial court erred in not allowing plaintiff's experts to testify that the cause of the wreck was the defendants' failure to put reflective tape on trailer- visibility
- 11. Trial court erred in allowing defendants' expert Bentley to testify on several issues
- 12. Trial court erred in excluding plaintiff's document evidence of reflective tape
- 13. Trial court erred in not admitting plaintiff's photos of an exemplar truck with reflective tape and the defendant's trailer post-accident
- 14. Trial court erred in not limiting the testimony of witness Ephraim Woolf

II. TESTIMONY LIMITATIONS EFFECTING CAUSATION

- 15. Trial court erred by excluding testimony of plaintiff's MDOT expert, Dunlap, regarding causation and FMCR violations
- 16. Trial court erred in not letting plaintiff's expert, Corbitt, testify regarding causation on defendant's failure to yield the right of way and for causing an immediate hazard
- 17. Trial court erred in not allowing plaintiff's FMCSR expert, Maxwell, to testify about causation in regards to FMCSR violations

- 18. Trial court erred by finding as a "matter of law that 40-45 mph is not unreasonably slow
- 19. Trial court erred by ruling "as a matter of law that two and a half miles is insufficient to creating an immediate hazard
- 20. Trial court erred in allowing defendant's expert Weaver to testify to fatigue and delayed perception

III. JURY INSTRUCTION ERRORS

- 21. Trial court erred in denying and admitting various jury Instructions
- 22. Trial court erred in denying jury instruction P-7
- 23. Trial court erred in denying jury instruction P-10
- 24. Trial court erred in denying jury instruction P-11
- 25. Trial court erred in denying jury instruction P-12
- 26. Trial court erred in not admitting jury instruction P-13.
- 27. Trial court erred in denying jury instruction P-14
- 28. Trial court erred in denying jury instruction P-15
- 29. Trial court erred in not admitting jury instruction P-16
- 30. Trial court erred in submitting jury instruction C-13
- 31. Trial court erred in denying jury instruction P-17 and for declaring as a "matter of law" that 40 mph speed limit is not "unreasonably slow".
- 32. Trial court erred in denying jury instruction P-18
- 33. Trial court erred in denying jury instruction P-19
- 34. Trial court erred in denying jury instruction P-20
- 35. Trial court erred in denying jury instruction P-21
- 36. Trial court erred in denying jury instruction P-29
- 37. Trial court erred by admitting jury instruction D-1
- 38. Trial court erred by admitting jury instruction D-2
- 39. Trial court erred by admitting jury instruction D-3
- 40. Trial court erred by admitting jury instruction D-5
- 41. Trial court erred by admitting jury instructions D-6
- 42. Trial court erred in admitting jury instruction C-19 (Special Interrogatory)
- 43. Trial court erred in admitting cumulative instructions D-1, D-2, D-3, D-5 and D-6

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case is an action for damages by Carla Utz Individually and on Behalf of All Wrongful Death Beneficiaries of Preston Jimmy Utz against Defendants Running & Rolling Trucking, Inc. and Anthony Q. Hunter, for operating a tractor-trailer in violation of the Federal Motor Carrier Safety Regulations, failure to yield the right of way, and for causing the death of Preston Jimmy Utz which occurred in December 2003. On May 1, 2008 the Circuit Court of the Second Judicial District of Bolivar County, Mississippi, Honorable Charles E. Webster, presiding, weighing the greater weight of the credible evidence entered a Final Judgment for the Defendants and an Order denying the Plaintiff's Motion for Judgment Notwithstanding the Verdict (JNOV), or in the Alternative for a New Trial. Plaintiff perfects her appeal from the lower court's judgment.

FACTS

On December 14, 2003 at about 11:50 p.m. just north of the city of Boyle, Bolivar County, Mississippi, Preston Jimmy Utz ("Utz" and "deceased") was driving southbound on Highway 61 in the right lane, about .40 miles south of McWimus Road. Anthony Q. Hunter ("Hunter") was driving for Running & Rolling Trucking, Inc. ("Running & Rolling") and pulled his 1995 International tractor-trailer truck from a side road onto Highway 61 South in front of and into Utz's travel lane. When Hunter entered the road the Federal Motor Carrier Safety Regulations ("FMCSR") controlled how he operated the truck and trailer (Tr. Transcr. 392:21-25; Tr. Transcr. 445:26-29). The FMCSR are federal regulations governing commercial carriers to improve the safety of the motoring public (Tr. Transcr. 171:20-26). On the night of the wreck the FMCSR required the trailer to have reflective tape ("conspicuity tape") on the rear of the trailer for visibility purposes (Tr. Transcr. 392:26; Tr. Transcr. 446:1-4). The

21). On the night of the wreck the trailer did not have reflective tape on the top right and top left of the trailer (Tr. Transcr. 393:22-25). The FMCSR also required reflective tape to run all the way across the back of the trailer on the deck (Tr. Transcr. 394:1-5). Additionally the FMCSR required the reflective tape to be continuous across the back of the trailer to the furthest edges of the trailer or its bumper (Tr. Transcr. 222:6-26). At the time of the wreck there was no reflective tape running across the back of the trailer on the deck (See photos and picture Exhibits D-15 a-w, P-9 and P-33). In fact there was no reflective tape on the back of the trailer at all (Tr. Transcr. 448:1-8; see photos). Without any reflective tape on the rear of the trailer the Defendants were operating the trailer in violation of the FMCSR. (Tr. Transcr. 193:14-22). The driver, Hunter, admitted at trial that on the night of the wreck he was operating the trailer in violation of FMCSR for no reflective tape (Tr. Transcr. 395:1-6). The Defendants' safety manager, Charles Richard ("Richard"), admitted at trial that there was no reflective tape on the back of the trailer (Tr. Transcr. 448:1-8; Tr. Transcr. 449:3-11). Safety manager, Richard, also admitted at trial that the Defendants failed to properly place reflective tape on the back of the trailer as required by FMCSR (Tr. Transcr. 449:12-16). Richard admitted that at the time of the wreck the trailer was operating on the road while not in compliance with the FMCSR (Tr. Transcr. 449:17-20). Officer Mark Dunlap with Mississippi Department of Transportation, an expert in the field of DOT regulations and FMCSR, confirmed that the trailer had no reflective tape on its rear (Tr. Transcr. 173:22-29) and that the trailer was not in compliance with FMCSR (Tr. Transcr. 193:14-22). The tractor-trailer should not have even been on the road and should not have been allowed to operate on the road (Tr. Transcr. 196:7-25).

When the tractor-trailer entered the road it maintained a very low rate of speed and did not move up to the flow of traffic (Tr. Transcr. 227:22-27). The posted speed on Highway 61

in that area is 65 mph (Tr. Transcr. 211:27-29). Hunter pulled into the road by swinging into the left lane and then eventually moving over into the right lane (Tr. Transcr. 399:21 – 400:2). Hunter said he saw lights approaching from behind in the distance (Tr. Transcr. 409:16-26) and he did not know how fast the car was going (Tr. Transcr. 410:6-8). He then said he never saw a car coming from behind his trailer (Tr. Transcr. 410:9-22). The low speed of the truck created a road hazard to vehicles approaching from behind (Tr. Transcr. 232:20-24). Preston Utz's car struck the back of the practically invisible trailer that had pulled out in front of him. Utz died at the scene from his injuries.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Plaintiff argues that the lower court erred in its rulings in pre-trial, trial and post-trial motions. Plaintiff also argues the trial court's actions in admitting certain evidence, excluding other evidence and in preventing the Plaintiff from presenting her theories of liability created reversible error. Plaintiff argues the trial court committed reversible error in entering a final judgment in favor of the Defendants (R. 1607-1608) and in denying Plaintiff's Motion for Judgment Notwithstanding the Verdict (JNOV), or for a New Trial on May 1, 2008. (R. 1647-1670). The evidence proves the sole proximate cause of the wreck was the Defendants' violations of the FMCSR and failure to yield the right of way. The Plaintiff argues that the overwhelming amount of errors committed by the trial judge, from admitting prejudicial evidence to preventing the Plaintiff's experts from testifying to causation and allowing jury instructions that were peremptory as a whole, amounts to reversible error. In considering the trial court's denial of Plaintiff's Motion for Judgment Notwithstanding the Verdict (JNOV), or for a New Trial, Carla Utz, Individually and on Behalf of All Wrongful Death Beneficiaries and the Estate of Preston Jimmy Utz, Deceased, asks this Court to review these points:

- 1. Trial court erred in admitting testimony alleging Utz was using, making and/or selling methamphetamine before the wreck;
- 2. Trial court erred in allowing Defendants to claim Utz had methamphetamine in his blood at the time of the wreck;
- 3. Trial court erred in admitting testimony regarding alleged drugs being found in Utz's pants a month after the wreck;
- 4. Trial court erred in allowing testimony of lay witnesses identifying unknown substance to be alleged methamphetamine;
- 5. Trial court erred in allowing toxicologist Weaver, to testify that Utz's alleged lack of sleep "could have" lead to fatigue and delayed perception;
- 6. Trial court erred in not admitting Defendants' prior FMCSR violations;
- 7. Trial court erred in excluding evidence of driver's driving record;
- 8. Trial court erred in limiting the Plaintiff's expert testimony regarding taillight visibility;
- 9. Trial court erred in not admitting evidence regarding the trailer being "out of service" and its causation effect on the wreck;
- 10. Trial court erred in not allowing Plaintiff's experts to testify that the cause of the wreck was the Defendants' failure to put reflective tape on trailer visibility;
- 11. Trial court erred in allowing Defendants' expert, Bentley, to testify on several issues;
- 12. Trial court erred in excluding Plaintiff's document evidence of reflective tape;
- 13. Trial court erred in not admitting Plaintiff's photos of an exemplar truck with reflective tape and the Defendants' trailer post-accident;
- 14. Trial court erred in not limiting the testimony of witness, Ephraim Woolf;
- 15. Trial court erred by excluding testimony of Plaintiff's MDOT expert, Dunlap, regarding causation and FMCSR violations;
- 16. Trial court erred in not letting Plaintiff's expert, Corbitt, testify regarding causation on Defendant's failure to yield the right of way and for causing an immediate hazard;
- 17. Trial court erred in not allowing Plaintiff's FMCSR expert, Maxwell, to testify about causation in regards to FMCSR violations;
- 18. Trial court erred by finding as a "matter of law that 40-45 mph is not unreasonably slow";

- 19. Trial court erred by ruling "as a matter of law that two and a half miles is insufficient to creating an immediate hazard";
- 20. Trial court erred in allowing Defendants' expert, Weaver, to testify to fatigue and delayed perception;
- 21. Trial court erred in denying and admitting various jury instructions;
- 22. Trial court erred in denying jury instruction P-7;
- 23. Trial court erred in denying jury instruction P-10;
- 24. Trial court erred in denying jury instruction P-11;
- 25. Trial court erred in denying jury instruction P-12;
- 26. Trial court erred in denying jury instruction P-13;
- 27. Trial court erred in denying jury instruction P-14;
- 28. Trial court erred in denying jury instruction P-15;
- 29. Trial court erred in denying jury instruction P-16;
- 30. Trial court erred in submitting jury instruction C-13;
- 31. Trial court erred in denying jury instruction P-17 and for declaring as a "matter of law" that 40 mph speed limit is not "unreasonably slow";
- 32. Trial court erred in denying jury instruction P-18;
- 33. Trial court erred in denying jury instruction P-19;
- 34. Trial court erred in denying jury instruction P-20;
- 35. Trial court erred in denying jury instruction P-21;
- 36. Trial court erred in denying jury instruction P-29;
- 37. Trial court erred by admitting jury instruction D-1;
- 38. Trial court erred by admitting jury instruction D-2;
- 39. Trial court erred by admitting jury instruction D-3;
- 40. Trial court erred by admitting jury instruction D-5;

- 41. Trial court erred by admitting jury instructions D-6;
- 42. Trial court erred in admitting jury instruction C-19 (Special Interrogatory); and
- 43. Trial court erred in admitting cumulative instructions D-1, D-2, D-3, D-5 and D-6.

ARGUMENTS

The lower court erred in its rulings before, during and after the trial. Plaintiff requests a new trial be ordered so that the jury may consider all the evidence. Appellate courts review a denial of a motion for new trial under an abuse of discretion standard. *Smith v. Parkerson Lumber, Inc.*, 888 So. 2d 1197, 1204 (Miss. Ct. App. 2004) (citing *Allstate Ins. Co. v. McGory*, 697 So. 2d 1171, 1174 (Miss. 1997). The trial court abused its discretion.

I. EVIDENTIARY AND PROCEDURAL ERRORS

1. Trial court erred in admitting testimony alleging Utz was using, making and/or selling methamphetamine before the wreck.

The trial court denied Plaintiff's motion to exclude speculation regarding the deceased using, making and/or selling methamphetamine before the wreck. (R. at 1404-1406). In trial witness, Ephraim Woolf, was allowed to testify to these various prejudicial statements- that two weeks before the car wreck he and Utz were smoking methamphetamine ("meth") (Tr. Transcr. 535:29), that the day before the wreck he and Utz spent the day picking up ingredients to cook meth (Tr. Transcr. 536:26), that Utz was with him and a girl cooking meth the day before the wreck (Tr. Transcr. 537:23-28), that Utz tested the meth (Tr. Transcr. 539:21), that Utz got high (Tr. Transcr. 540:3), and that they spent all day at Steve Brooks' house getting high the day of the wreck (Tr. Transcr. 542:24). All this testimony was overtly prejudicial. There was no testimony that the actions of Utz and Woolf in the days before the wreck were related to the wreck. This testimony was hearsay, prejudicial and not relevant. It portrayed Utz as a drug making, drug using, drug selling felon inflaming the jury and confusing the issues.

Evidence is generally admissible if it is relevant. Miss. R. Evid. 402. "Relevant Evidence means evidence having any tendency to make the existence of any fact that is of consequence to the determination of the action more probable or less probable than it would be without the evidence." Miss. R. Evid. 401, Testimony that Utz allegedly used, made or sold methamphetamine is not relevant evidence under Rule 401. For evidence to be relevant it must be logically connected to the issues. This case is a wrongful death automobile accident. Without showing a connection between the alleged use, manufacture or sale of methamphetamine and the subject accident there is no relevance in allowing testimony on these topics. Cf. Magee v. State, 912 So. 2d 1044 (Miss. Ct. App. 2005) (evidence that someone else, who was a known drug user, drove the vehicle in which the drugs were found is not sufficient to show that the Defendant did not know about the drugs); Stewart v. State, 662 So. 2d 552 (Miss. 1995) (testimony by a witness about conversations prior to the Defendant becoming involved in the conspiracy is not probative). Assuming decedent's alleged drug use, manufacture and selling were relevant it would still not be admissible because the evidence is highly prejudicial. "Evidence may be excluded if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, confusion of the issues, or misleading the jury . . . "Miss. R. Evid. 403. It was highly prejudicial to allow testimony alleging the descendent Utz had used, made or sold methamphetamine. Defendant did not present evidence that any alleged use, manufacture or sale of drugs caused or contributed to the accident. Donald v. Triple S Well Service, Inc., 708 So. 2d 637 (Miss. 1998) (where Plaintiff was injured on the job it was error to allow evidence of Plaintiff's drinking on the job because did not connect drinking to the accident).

Allowing hearsay testimony of use, production and/or distribution of methamphetamine is clearly more prejudicial than probative and violated Miss. R. Evid. 401 and 403. The manufacturing, consumption and sale of meth is a felony. The trial judge tainted the jury by

allowing this information before the jury despite the fact that it had no relevance and was more prejudicial than probative. This is especially erroneous when the Mississippi State toxicology report (Exhibit P-21) and the State toxicologist, Carmen McIntire, testified that the state crime lab tests showed Utz had no meth in his body at the time of the wreck (Tr. Transcr. 342:22-25; 343:1-5). By allowing the Defendants to essentially say Utz was a felon the court tainted the evidence and confused the issues and jury. This testimony, especially when contradicted by the findings of the state toxicology report, guaranteed the jury would be prejudiced and confused about the issues.

2. Trial court erred when allowing Defendants to claim Utz had methamphetamine in his blood at the time of the wreck

The trial court denied Plaintiff's motion to exclude speculative testimony regarding the deceased having methamphetamine in his blood at the time of the accident. (R. 1404-1406). This ruling was reversible error. The trial court found "despite the Plaintiff's argument to the contrary, that the probative value of evidence concerning methamphetamine in the blood of the deceased at the time of the accident is not substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice." (R. at 1406). The Defendants were allowed to have a toxicologist claim Utz had meth in his blood at the time of the wreck in contradiction to the actual results of the crime lab report (Exhibit P-21) and the testimony of the crime lab expert, Carmen McIntire (Tr. Transcr. 342:22-25; 343:1-5).

The certified toxicology report for Utz from the Mississippi crime lab showed Utz was negative for methamphetamine (Exhibit P-21). (Tr. Transcr. 342:22-25; 343:1-5). Defendants were allowed to present evidence and testimony at trial that the toxicology report had an unreportable amount of something in the spectra that could be indicative of methamphetamine. The Defendants were also allowed to present testimony from expert Michael Weaver who claimed he

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