### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

CASE NO. 2008-CA-00977

CARLA UTZ, INDIVIDUALLY AND ON BEHALF OF ALL WRONGFUL DEATH BENEFICIARIES AND THE ESTATE OF PRESTON JIMMY UTZ, DECEASED

APPELLANT

VS.

RUNNING & ROLLING TRUCKING, INC. AND ANTHONY Q. HUNTER

APPELLEES

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SECOND JUDICIAL DISTRICT OF BOLIVAR COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

**BRIEF OF APPELLEES** 

B. STEVENS HAZARD - BAR # ..... JASON H. STRONG - BAR # .... DANIEL COKER HORTON AND BELL, P.A. 4400 OLD CANTON ROAD, SUITE 400 POST OFFICE BOX 1084 JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI 39215-1084 TELEPHONE: (601) 969-7607 FACSIMILE: (601) 969-1116 ATTORNEY FOR APPELLEES

ORAL ARGUMENT IS NOT REQUESTED

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

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup>The DOT Bumper also is referred to as the rear under ride guard. It extends downward from the lower deck of the rear of the trailer and hangs horizontally above the roadway.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup>Mr. Harlin is related by marriage to Charles Richard.

the Plaintiff's expert liability witnesses.<sup>23</sup> Tr. 172; 216; 221-22; 301-02. No legitimate argument exists that the jury, as alleged in the Plaintiff's brief, was not permitted to "see how the trailer appeared the night of the wreck" because the 26 photographs taken in Chicago well over one year after the accident were not admitted into evidence. And it seems plausible that the Plaintiff's intent in utilizing the photographs was to show that in the several months subsequent to the accident the trailer was not equipped with reflective tape, which was not relevant, and not to show its condition on the night of the accident.

## 12. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN LIMITING THE TESTIMONY OF THE PLAINTIFF'S EXPERT, TIM CORBITT

The Plaintiff failed to cite authority for this assignment of error (found at heading 16 in the Plaintiff's brief) and waived it. *Grenada Living Ctr.*, 939 So. 2d at 37.

The gist of the Plaintiffs' argument on this point appears to be that Tim Corbitt was precluded by the trial court from opining before the jury that the accident occurred because Anthony Hunter was "traveling slow in Highway 61, about 40 miles an hour, 25 miles less than the posted speed limit, and there is no conspicuity tape on the back of the trailer." However, Mr. Corbitt actually testified at length before the jury concerning the absence of reflective tape on the rear of the trailer, how this would have affected the visibility of the trailer, and his opinion concerning the causal relationship between these factors and the speed of the tractor-trailer. By way of illustration, Mr. Corbitt testified to the following:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup>Also, Plaintiff's Exhibit 33 was admitted into evidence. R. 1606. This exhibit contained two photographs of the trailer taken the morning after the accident. One of the two photographs depicts the rear of the trailer before the makeshift DOT bumper was attached.

- He did not see any reflective tape on the rear of the tractor-trailer in the scene photographs;
- Reflective tape was supposed to have been on the lower deck and in the upper corners of the rear of the trailer. Tr. 221;
- Only the lights on the rear of the trailer would have been visible in the absence of reflective tape. Tr. 223;
- A silhouette effect operated to hide the subject trailer at the point of impact in the absence of reflective tape. Tr. 225;
- ► The tractor-trailer was a hazard to other drivers because it was traveling 25 miles per hour slower than the posted speed limit and was not properly marked with reflective tape. Tr. 232-35;
- Mr. Corbitt found no fault on behalf of Preston Utz. Tr. 235.

Following cross and re-direct examination of Mr. Corbitt, the Plaintiff elicited a short

proffer from Mr. Corbitt. In response to the question of "[a]nd what was the cause of the

crash? What did they [Defendants] do wrong?", Mr. Corbitt repeated the high points of his

testimony:

Traveling slow on Highway 61, about 40 miles an hour, 25 miles less than the posted speed limit, and there is no conspicuity tape on the back of the trailer. Tr. 287.

In sum, the matters Mr. Corbitt stated by proffer were the same as those to which he previously testified.

Further, Mr. Corbitt's proposed testimony that the accident occurred because there was no reflective tape on the rear of the trailer would have been based upon speculation and inadmissible. The trial court had previously entered its well-reasoned opinion that any testimony by an expert as to whether Preston Utz actually saw the trailer prior to impact or

whether the trailer was or was not visible to him would not be based upon sufficient facts or data as required by Mississippi Rule of Evidence 702 and would not be helpful to the trier of fact. R. 1392. The trial court did not abuse its discretion in prohibiting Mr. Corbitt from attempting to testify as to what Preston Utz could or could not perceive.

## 13. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT COMMIT REVERSIBLE ERROR IN REFUSING THE PLAINTIFF'S PROPOSED JURY INSTRUCTION LABELED P-17

Southbound Highway 61 at the scene of the accident is comprised of two lanes. Trooper Shive testified at trial to the familiar rule governing this form of roadway; the right lane is for slower traffic and the left for passing vehicles. Tr. 436. Visibility along this stretch of Highway 61 is good and the roadway is straight, flat and even. Tr. 436. Highway 61 is not a limited access roadway as is an interstate; as a result there are countless roads and intersections by which vehicles access and exit it. There is no minimum speed on Highway 61 and the posted speed limit was 65 miles per hour. Tr. 435. Trooper Shive patrols Highway 61 and testified he regularly observes vehicles traveling 40 to 45 miles per hour on it. Tr. 435.

Anthony Hunter's trial testimony was that he was traveling 45 miles per hour "or better" at the time he was rear ended by Preston Utz. Tr. 414. Mr. Hunter had accessed Highway 61 immediately after leaving the Running & Rolling facility and had traveled south on the highway towards Cleveland for over two miles before the accident occurred. Tr. 413. The tractor-trailer entirely was within the right-hand lane when it was rear-ended. Tr. 414. The Plaintiff submitted a jury instruction, P-17, that relied upon the tractor-trailer being a hazard to the "flow of traffic" on Highway 61 based solely upon its rate of speed.<sup>24</sup> R. 1509. During the instruction conference, the trial court noted the only testimony concerning the speed of the tractor-trailer indicated it was traveling, at a minimum, 40 miles per hour and by law was exactly where it should have been – in the right-hand lane of traffic. Tr. 685, 691. The trial court found the evidence insufficient to support the instruction. Tr. 691.

The trial court possessed considerable discretion regarding the instructions to submit and did not commit reversible error. *Young v. Guild*, 7 So.3d 251, 259 (Miss. 2009) (citation omitted). It is well settled that a jury instruction is to be given only if supported by credible evidence. *Young*, 7 So.3d at 259. There was not adequate support for this instruction. And the case cited by the Plaintiff in support of the instruction, *Jackson v. Griffin*, 390 So. 2d 287 (Miss. 1980), is factually dissimilar and does not aid her.

There was no factual evidence from which the jury reasonably could infer that the tractor-trailer posed by its speed alone a "hazard to the flow of traffic" or "other vehicles traveling on the same roadway." The accident happened minutes before midnight;<sup>25</sup> hence, the highway generally was unoccupied outside of Anthony Hunter and Preston Utz. There was no "flow of traffic" as referenced within P-17 traveling behind Anthony Hunter, but

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup>P-17 said nothing about the absence of reflective tape and would have enabled the Plaintiff to pursue liability based upon the tractor-trailer's rate of speed alone.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup>11:50 p.m. according to the report of Trooper Shive.

rather a single vehicle, the Nissan Maxima operated by Preston Utz. Further, the tractortrailer was at all times relevant traveling completely within the right-hand lane. Tr. 413-14. Even if there theoretically had been a "flow of traffic" a tractor-trailer traveling at 40 or 45 miles per hour would not have been a hazard proceeding, as was Anthony Hunter, in the right lane. This instruction was properly denied by the trial court.

## 14. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT COMMIT REVERSIBLE ERROR IN REFUSING THE PLAINTIFF'S PROPOSED JURY INSTRUCTIONS LABELED P-18 AND P-19

The trial court refused the Plaintiff's proposed jury instructions labeled P-18 and P-19 that encompassed a failure to yield the right-of-way theory. R. 1567; Tr. 691-92. The instructions would have advised the jury that liability could attach to the Defendants if it found Preston Utz's vehicle was approaching "so close as to constitute an immediate hazard" when Anthony Hunter first entered Highway 61. R. 1567. These instructions were not supported by the proof offered at trial.

The evidence established that Anthony Hunter entered Highway 61 from the Running and Rolling facility without incident and traveled 2.5 miles south towards Cleveland. Tr. 226; 413; 691-92. Only after Anthony Hunter had traveled that distance (well over 10,000 feet) did the Nissan Maxima enter the picture, gain ground on, and strike the tractor-trailer.

The evidentiary foundation needed for P-18 and P-19, that Anthony Hunter "cut off" and failed to yield to Preston Utz by immediately pulling in front of his oncoming vehicle, did not exist. Preston Utz was miles from Anthony Hunter's range of vision when Hunter entered the roadway and began his trip. It is axiomatic that there must be credible evidence to support any proffered jury instruction. *Young*, 9 So.3d at 259. There was none and the trial court correctly refused the proposed instructions. Tr. 691-92.

#### 15. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT COMMIT REVERSIBLE ERROR IN REFUSING THE PLAINTIFF'S PROPOSED JURY INSTRUCTION LABELED AS P-7

The Plaintiff waived any claim of error regarding the trial court's decision to instruct the jury on proximate cause via C-10 rather than P-7 submitted by the Plaintiff. R. 1657. During the instruction conference, the trial court expressed dissatisfaction with the respective proximate cause instructions submitted by the parties, ultimately drafting and submitting its own proximate cause instruction for comment by counsel. Tr. 677; 704.

After the Plaintiff's counsel read C-10, the following colloquy between the Plaintiff's counsel and the trial court occurred:

By the Court: What say you, Mr. Ogden?

By Mr. Ogden: I'm okay with that instruction. Tr. 706.

The Plaintiff acquiesced to the submission of C-10 and may not object to it at this point. Jones v. State, 776 So. 2d 643, 653 (Miss. 2000) (Failure to object to jury instruction procedurally bars appellate review.)

Further, P-7 was insufficient notwithstanding the consent to C-10. Any jury instruction must be a proper statement of law and instructions that are confusing serve no purpose. *Young*, 9 So.3d at 259. P-7 was confusingly worded and not a proper definition of proximate cause. R. 1488.

Additionally, reversible error will not be present where the jury instructions, taken as a whole, fairly announce the law and create no injustice when read as a whole. *Id.* The Plaintiff was not denied her right to a fair trial because P-7 was not given.

## 16. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT COMMIT REVERSIBLE ERROR BY REFUSING THE PLAINTIFF'S PROPOSED JURY INSTRUCTION LABELED AS P-10

The Plaintiff failed to cite authority for this assignment and waived it. Grenada Living Ctr., 961 So. 2d at 37.

By P-10, the Plaintiff sought to instruct the jury that the Defendants were negligent *per se* for violating the FMCSR at the time of the accident. R. 1494. The trial court submitted to the jury its own negligence *per se* instruction, C-13, peremptorily instructing the jury that the Defendants were negligent in failing to comply with the FMCSR and leaving only the issue of proximate cause to the jury. R. 1597. The trial court's instruction was not in contradiction of Mississippi law. *See Thomas v. McDonald*, 667 So. 2d 594, 596 (Miss. 1995) (When a statute is violated, the injured party is entitled to an instruction that the party violating is guilty of negligence, and if that negligence proximately caused or contributed to the injury, then the injured party is entitled to recover.) The Plaintiff's claim of reversible error is without merit.

## 17. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT COMMIT REVERSIBLE ERROR IN REFUSING THE PLAINTIFF'S PROPOSED JURY INSTRUCTIONS LABELED AS P-11, P-12, P-13, P-14, P-15 AND P-16

The Plaintiff failed to cite authority for these assignments of error and waived them. Grenada Living Ctr., 961 So. 2d at 37. The proposed instructions labeled P-11, P-12, P-13, P-14, P-15 and P-16 all related to the Defendants' violation of the FMCSR due to the absence of reflective tape along the bottom deck and in the upper corners of the trailer. R.1496-1507. These proposed instructions were subsumed and rendered superfluous by the trial court's instruction C-13, which directed the jury that the Defendants were negligent by violating the FMCSR. R. 1597. There was no point in submitting singular instructions relating to the violation considering the trial court's peremptory instruction.

The Plaintiff's complaint that C-13 was insufficient "because it looks like a negligence *per se* instruction but then it requires the Plaintiff to prove the Defendants' violation of FMCSR was the proximate cause of Utz's death" has no merit. Mississippi law plainly requires a plaintiff to prove this very thing. *Thomas*, 667 So. 2d at 596.

## 18. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT COMMIT REVERSIBLE ERROR BY REFUSING THE PLAINTIFF'S PROPOSED JURY INSTRUCTION LABELED AS P-20

The trial court did not err regarding this proposed instruction. P-20 was modeled upon Miss. Code Ann. § 63-3-701, which states that no person shall start a stopped, standing or parked vehicle unless and until such movement can be made with reasonable safety. Miss. Code Ann. § 63-3-701.<sup>26</sup> The only basis proffered by the Plaintiff during the instruction conference for P-20 was that the tractor-trailer should not have been "moved" from its initial stopped position at the Running and Rolling yard 2.5 miles north of the accident site because of the absence of reflective tape. Tr. 694. The trial court correctly ruled that P-20 was not

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26</sup>The Defendants were unable to locate a single case interpreting this statute.

a proper instruction. Tr. 694. P-20 was abstract and unspecific to the facts of the case. It also would have enabled the Plaintiff to back door her strict liability theme by arguing the trailer should not have been "moved" from the Running and Rolling facility and, consequently, should not have been on the roadway.

Moreover, even if the trial court erred in refusing P-20, the error would be harmless and insufficient to warrant reversal as the instructions, taken as a whole, adequately presented the law. *Young*, 9 So.3d at 259. The jury was instructed the Defendants were negligent by violating the FMCSR. After applying the instructions to the evidence, the jury affirmatively found this negligence did not cause or contribute to the accident. R. 1603. Given that the jury found the absence of reflective tape did not cause or contribute to the accident and, by implication, that the trailer was sufficiently visible to Preston Utz, there could not be reversible error in refusing P-20. P-20 sought to instruct the jury that the Defendants could be liable if the jury found "movement" of the tractor-trailer "could not be made with reasonable safety". R. 1515. The jury's resolution of the facts indicate the tractor-trailer could be, and was, moved with reasonable safety.

## 19. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT COMMIT REVERSIBLE ERROR BY REFUSING THE PLAINTIFF'S PROPOSED JURY INSTRUCTIONS LABELED AS P-21 AND P-29

The trial court did not commit reversible error in denying P-21 and P-29. The Plaintiff did not present any factual evidence from which the jury reasonably could infer that the trailer, which the testimony showed had seven burning taillights, constituted an emergency condition or unusual condition as it traveled south on Highway 61. There was

ł

59

no evidence that Anthony Hunter abruptly pulled in front of Preston Utz's oncoming vehicle or that Anthony Hunter slammed on his brakes and suddenly decreased his speed. The undisputed evidence was Anthony Hunter had traveled 2.5 miles when Preston Utz's vehicle approached and struck the trailer from behind within the right lane. Tr. 226; 413. There was not evidentiary support for an emergency condition instruction.

Further, the jury found that the absence of reflective tape did not cause or contribute to the accident. Any error in refusing P-21 and P-29 could only have been harmless.

## 20. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT COMMIT REVERSIBLE ERROR BY GIVING THE DEFENDANTS' PROPOSED JURY INSTRUCTION LABELED AS D-1

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